Public Document Pack



SUMMONS

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Wednesday 13 April 2022

Council Chamber, The Forum

You are hereby summoned to a meeting of the Dacorum Borough Council in the County of Hertfordshire to be held in the Council Chamber, The Forum on Wednesday 13 April 2022 at 7.30 pm to transact the business set out below.

CLAIRE HAMILTON CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Hamilton

TO ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL

Contact: Corporate & Democratic Support

ext 2209

AGENDA

1. MINUTES (Pages 4 - 29)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting of the council

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To consider questions (if any) by members of the public of which the appropriate notice has been given to the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS

To receive announcements and business brought forward by the Mayor, Leader, and Members of the Cabinet or the Chief Executive.

- 4.1 By the Mayor:
- 4.2 By the Chief Executive:
- 4.3 By the Group Leaders: Any apologies for absence
- 4.4 Council Leader and Members of the Cabinet:

Councillor Williams Leader of the Council
Councillor Elliot Finance and Resources

Councillor Griffiths Housing

Councillor Williams Corporate and Contracted Services

Councillor Barrett Environmental Services

Councillor Banks Community and Regulatory Services

Councillor Anderson Planning and Infrastructure

5. MOTIONS (Page 30)

6. QUESTIONS

To consider questions (if any) by members of the Council of which the appropriate notice has been given to the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)

7. **BUSINESS FROM THE LAST COUNCIL MEETING** (Pages 31 - 33)

To consider any business referred from the previous meeting

8. CABINET REFERRALS (Pages 34 - 35)

To consider the following referrals from Cabinet:

Item 7.1 CA/24/22 Garage Strategy

- 9. **OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORTS 2021-2022** (Pages 36 48)
- 10. WAIVER OF 6 MONTH COUNCILLOR ATTENDANCE RULE (SEC.85 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972) (Page 49)

11. CHANGES TO COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

To consider any proposals for changes to committee membership

12. CHANGE TO COMMITTEE DATES

To consider any proposals for changes to committee dates

Agenda Item 1

Present -

MEMBERS:

Riddick (Mayor), Adeleke, Allen, Anderson, Arslan, Banks, Barrett, Beauchamp, Bhinder, Birnie (Deputy Mayor), Claughton, Dhyani, Douris, Elliot, England, Foster, Freedman, Griffiths, Guest, Harden, Hearn, Hobson, Hollinghurst, Imarni, Johnson, Link, Suqlain Mahmood, Sobaan Mahmood, Peter, Ransley, Rogers, Silwal, Stevens, Sutton, Symington, Taylor, Timmis, Tindall, Williams, Wilkie and Wyatt-Lowe (41)

OFFICERS:

The Chief Executive, Strategic Director (Place), Chief Finance Officer, Group Manager (Legal and Democratic Services), C O'Neil (Corporate Support Team Leader) and T Angel (Minutes)

The meeting began at 7.30 pm.

1. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2022 were agreed by the members present and then signed by the Mayor.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor England advised he was a member of Herts Valley Hospital which was mentioned in one of his written questions.

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation.

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS

4.1 By the Mayor

The Mayor welcomed new Councillor Anne Foster and Councillor Simy Dhyani.

4.2 By the Chief Executive

The Chief Executive confirmed the results of the by elections on Thursday 3rd February were as follows:

Berkhamsted West Ward: Anne Foster, Liberal Democrats

Berkhamsted Town Council West Ward: Anne Foster, Liberal Democrats

Boxmoor Ward: Simy Dhyani, Liberal Democrats

4.3 By Group Leaders

Councillor Williams gave apologies on behalf of Councillors Bassadone and Chapman.

Councillor Tindall gave apologies on behalf of Councillors Barry-Mears, McDowell, Pringle and Townsend.

4.4 Council Leader and Members of the Cabinet

Councillor Williams, Leader of the Council

The Leader had a couple of announcements:

Yesterday I circulated the response from the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable on the letter on violence against women and girls. I felt it was a comprehensive response and I hope members had had the chance to read it.

WH Smith in Hemel Hempstead town centre is closing. This houses the Post Office which makes the closure more disappointing. Contact is being made with the Chairman of the Post Office to seek provision of another facility in the town centre of Hemel Hempstead. The current facility closes on 31st May 2022.

Happy to take questions.

Questions

Councillor Tindall asked, in light of the Prime Ministers recent statement regarding living with Covid, what are we doing to protect our staff and visitors at the Forum.

The Leader responded that all government guidance was being followed and the advice of the Director of Public Health in Hertfordshire had been exemplary in his guidance which has often changed. We must continue to be cautious and responsible. The safety of staff, visitors and members continues to be paramount.

Councillor Symington queried why the DBC Code of Conduct differed from the LGA model. The Leader advised that without seeing both documents side by side he couldn't advise of the variants, however there is no requirement to copy the code exactly. The Standards Committee agreed our interpretation of Declarations of Interest and it works.

Councillor Symington raised concern that we weren't adopting best practice. The Leader said it was a very detailed question and couldn't tell the differences without seeing the pages Councillor Symington was referring to. He didn't feel the need to review the

document every year unless there were legislative changes we needed to adopt. He felt our model was as good and sufficient for DBC.

Mayor Riddick confirmed that practices had taken place for many years were still being followed and there was no need to review these now just to match the model code of conduct.

Councillor Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Planning & Infrastructure

Councillor Anderson presented a report on Planning and Infrastructure:

The member briefing on the technical reports to the Local Plan is happening shortly. This will include a general update on the Local Plan.

There has been an increase in developers approaching ward members. Can I ask that members don't be rude but equally don't be too helpful. We need members to liaise with council officers.

Please continue to have patience with staffing levels. The Council is actively trying to recruit.

Hemel Gardens Community Project – the Local Journeys survey on transport options is currently out with details on the website. Please participate and spread the publicity of the survey.

Hemel Place – the next board meeting is due shortly. The 12 street art owls are out until 19th April and have been popular with children and families.

The South West Herts joint strategic plan for 2038-2050 is taking shape and will be agreed in the next month with the Regulation 18 consultation taking place in June.

The filming industry assistance data has been collected and the database is now available to the filming industry.

There have been 114 applications under the last round of ARG COVID grants. We need more people to apply.

I will be looking at increasing fibre broadband across the borough. Hoping to arrange a briefing for members for more information.

Questions

Councillor Allen asked, further to the written response of his question from the last meeting, can the Portfolio Holder advise of the Council's response to the Network Rail Tender for a development partner as they state they received a warm pre-application response from the local Council. The Portfolio Holder advised that pre-application discussions were confidential but he will look into this and see what can be shared. **Action.**

Councillor Tindall followed on from Councillor Allen's question and asked if would be possible to hold a briefing with the relevant ward councillors and those adjacent. The Portfolio Holder agreed.

Councillor Symington referred to the South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan and queried what impact this had with the Dacorum Borough Council Local Plan being on hold until 2023. The Portfolio Holder advised there wasn't any impact because the South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan is for 2038-2050 and was still in early stages. He confirmed it was fine to proceed.

Councillor Hollinghurst suggested the number of homes was crucial and asked how we could plan for future development without having that information to hand. The Portfolio Holder felt they would have to agree to disagree on that point. He said it was so important to plan as much as we could, we work closely with our third parties to plan the infrastructure and even if some of it does seem like a backwards process that is how the system works.

Councillor Foster expressed frustration about the consultation on the Local Plan, the delays and the documents that had been missed from the Plan. The Portfolio Holder felt that the members question had breached confidentially and therefore couldn't respond on those points.

Councillor Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources

Councillor Elliot presented a report on Finance and Resources:

FINANCE AND RESOURCES

Financial Services

The Finance service has been extremely busy during January and February following the release of the final local government finance settlement.

This has required a further assessment and review of the draft 22/23 budget proposals, followed by the final budget scrutiny and the production and presentation of the proposed 22/23 budget on this evening's agenda.

The finance service is also working closely with our external Commercial experts to develop the basis of the Council's future commercial strategy and commercial business case appraisals.

Commercial Assets and Property Development

Estates Team

The Estates Team have continued to work with Public Health England, the NHS, Herts County Council and other partners on the assessment and delivery of vaccine delivery sites, pop up testing/vaccination sites, and booster jab locations. The work in this area is expected to reduce significantly going forward, the experience of this joint working and the relationships created should assist the council going forward. The focus moving

forward will be to make the best use of our operational assets as part of the wider Covid recovery plan.

Commercial Property Team

The performance of the commercial assets has remained strong, and income levels exceed budgeted expectations by circa 15%, and occupancy remains above 95%. This is a good indicator of how the local small independent businesses have progressed over the course of the pandemic. The Government's Moratorium on debt collection is due to come to an end in March 2022 and it is unknown at this point in time what impact that will have upon the local business community and void levels.

Going forward the customer/business response to Covid Recovery will be key to income performance. The Government's business rates relief support will continue in 2022 for the leisure and hospitality sectors.

Revenues and Benefits service

The Revenues service has been hard at work implementing several new government Covid Support policies for 21/22 and 22/23. These include; the implementation of the Omicron and Hospitality relief scheme 21/22, providing circa £800k of business rates relief to local businesses, the planning for the Council Tax based £150 Energy Rebate for 22/23, and the delivery of the final Covid Additional Relief Fund scheduled for March.

The revenues service have also supported the Economic development team to roll out the next phase of the Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG), with this phase focusing on supporting those businesses that won't receive the Omicron Relief grant but are involved in the hospitality and leisure supply chain sectors.

This team continues to play an important role in providing financial support to local residents and numbers of test and trace support applications increased exponentially during December and January to levels not seen before.

The Revenues service is working with the Department for Levelling up, Housing and Communities and software partners to ensure the issuing of the 2022/23 business Rates bills are on time and include the new reliefs for 2022/23.

Questions

Councillor Beauchamp questioned the expected payment date for those businesses that were eligible for the Hospitality and Leisure Grant. The Portfolio Holder confirmed the hospitality and leisure relief grants started the week commencing 7th February and is now nearing its conclusion. To date payments to 99 businesses have been made, totaling over £400,000 and the majority of the remaining payments will be paid next week.

Councillor England asked if the Portfolio Holder was concerned about inflation, and questioned if he would consider writing to The Chancellor, Rishi Sunak, to ask if some of the Test and Trace monies could be clawed back. The Portfolio Holder said he would not consider writing to the Chancellor with regards to inflation given other priorities he has to consider.

Councillor Hollinghurst expressed disappointment about the current Government. The Mayor said such comments were not appropriate for the Chamber.

Councillor Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for Housing

Councillor Griffiths presented a report on Housing:

TENANT & LEASEHOLDER SERVICES

- Two new income support officers recruited to provide support and advice for tenants that are experiencing difficulties with budgeting and paying their rent
- Rent collected to end of January achieved 99.4% and is an improvement on this time last year, which is positive in the current economic climate.
- Tenancy Management team are making good progress with the tenancy review visits and are identifying the need for some support or other intervention in 25% of visits

STRATEGIC HOUSING

- Senior Officer decision approved to vary arrangements for Afghan LES resettlement Scheme and to incorporate Afghan Citizen Resettlement Scheme households
- Third Afghan LES household matched and tenancy commenced for DBC property, fourth household expected to take up occupation of Registered Provider tenancy week commencing 28/2/2022
- Evaluation of Year 4 Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) and in liaison with Dept. Levelling Up Housing & Communities preparation for final submission for RSI Year 5 grant funding application, which currently enables delivery of Housing First/Street Outreach to deliver focused prevention initiatives.

PROPERTY & PLACE

- Gas servicing achieved 100% at the end of January
- Electrical testing programme continues with just over 98.4% of properties tested and the remaining properties are with the tenancy team, some at enforcement stage, as these have been hard to access
- Stock condition survey is underway and now gaining access to a greater number of properties after an initially slow start, due to the emergence of the Omicron variant.
- The Council has been awarded £300K of Social Housing decarbonisation grant funding to carry out energy efficiency upgrades 4 blocks of flats.

HOUSING DEVELOPMENT

Martindale	Defects period completed and properties handed over to Property & Place
Magenta Court	Defects period completed and properties handed over to Property & Place
St Margaret's Way	Planning Approval achieved 16 th Dec. Tender documents have been issued to select a Principal Contractor. Cabinet Report prepared to appropriate general fund land.

Mountbatten View	Appointment of Principal Contractor approved. Mobilising a start on site.		
Bingham Mews	Final defects inspections carried out January 2022. Minor snagging works to be undertaken.		
Eastwick Row	Start on site 21 st February 2022 after a delay linked to obtaining approval from Herts CC flood authority		
Coniston Road	On site progressing well. Completion due April 2022 Site visit for Leader, PH of Housing and local Councillors booed for 4 th March		
Wilstone	Appointment of Principal Contractor approved. Mobilising a start on site. Site demolished.		
Bulbourne	Approval to purchase land approved at Sept Cabinet. Project ready to submit for Planning subject to Tring Town Council to agreeing Heads of Terms to sell the site to DBC.		
Marchmont	Stage 2 design progressing. Resident consultation event held along with additional meeting with local Councillors. Planning application to be submitted early March.		
Cherry Bounce	Stage 2 design completed. Preparing resident consultation event.		
Paradise Depot	Planning application submitted. Tender documentation issued to demolish existing buildings.		
Garage Sites	Demolition completed. Preparing contract documents and mobilising a start on site.		
Randall's Ride	Mobilising a start on site. Site due to be demolished March 2022. Homes England funding request formally submitted.		
Stoneycroft & Varney Rd	Stage 2 design commenced.		
Aragon Close RSAP	Planning approval achieved 2 nd Dec.		
	Contractor instructed. Mobilising start on site. CCTV instructed.		
	Notice to quits served on Garages.		

Questions

Councillor Adeleke asked what plans were in place to help tenants that were likely to get into rent arrears due to rising living costs. The Portfolio Holder explained we had an experienced and caring team in the rents department and as long as residents talk to us we can assist them. She said there was always a potential for residents to get into arrears so they will continue what they have been doing for years and taking action.

Councillor Ransley said as a member of Tring Town Council they have not caused delays in the Bulbourne project. She said there had been delays with Legal, Government agencies, paperwork and decisions have changed but the Town Council had not caused the delays. The Portfolio Holder replied perhaps they could have a conversation outside of the meeting.

Councillor Freedman queried if we were legally able to stagger rent and service change increases throughout the year rather than one firm increase in order to assist our

residents. The Portfolio Holder advised it hadn't been looked at but she would need to investigate the legal ramifications. **Action.**

Councillor Williams, Portfolio Holder for Corporate and Contracted Services

Councillor Williams presented a report on Corporate and Contracted Services:

Thank you to the Elections Team for the work on the by-elections on 3rd February.

The Berkhamsted sports centre project is progressing. We have now moved to public consultation stage and we've already had over 400 responses.

Despite some slight delays the work at Highbarns is expected to complete at the end of the month.

Happy to take questions.

Questions

Councillor England noted there had been a report of a health and safety incident at the Everyone Active Sports Centre in St Albans, the same operator we have in Dacorum, and asked the Portfolio Holder for an update. The Portfolio Holder wasn't aware of the incident but as it wasn't in the borough it didn't warrant any intervention. Councillor England asked for reassurance that such incidents wouldn't be able to happen in Dacorum. The Portfolio Holder explained the operator had an exemplary safety record and if there was any incidents they would be investigated.

Councillor Freedman asked if the Portfolio Holder agreed that the Berkhamsted sports centre consultation falls short of encouraging and meaningful answers, and also seemed more resident focused. He asked if the Portfolio Holder would consider ad-hoc responses from businesses. The Portfolio Holder suggested the purpose of a consultation for a sports centre used by residents should be primarily aimed at residents. He said businesses could make contributions to the consultation if they wished to and he felt it was sufficient enough for anyone to make comments.

Councillor Symington said a few meetings ago she asked a question in relation to electric vehicle charging points and the Portfolio Holder had advised he was waiting for a response from UKPN. She asked if there was an update. The Portfolio Holder explained they had been in conversation with one operator and it had turned out not to be as it seemed so they had broadened that conversation out to a range of providers to look at options for all our car parks. He advised those conversations were ongoing and hoped a report would be produced to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee in the next cycle.

Councillor Barrett, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services

Councillor Barrett presented a report on Environmental Services:

Continuing to maintain services despite Covid restrictions. 15 members of staff off either with Covid or self-isolating at beginning of February. All but 2 back to work.

Christmas backlog all cleared by 11th January.

Refresher training being undertaken to all frontline staff (170). Difficult this year due to social distancing restrictions.

Plans underway for work on Splash Park opening in May. New contract awarded for maintenance.

HCC Agency agreement (tree and Grounds maintenance) expired and working on new contract.

In 2019/2020 our recycling percentage was 52.8% - putting us 63^{rd} in the league tables. In 2020/2021 our recycling rate has risen to 54.5% - putting us 40^{Th} in the league tables. So our percentage has gone up 1.7% and we have gone up 23 positions.

56 new street champions registered in January. Total of 576 registered and 316 with equipment.

654 residents came to the Council with their Christmas trees. With additional help from Scouts and Hospice of St Francis, a total of 6400 trees were chipped after Christmas.

Questions

Councillor England thanked the Trees and Woodlands Team for all their hard work in the cleanup of the recent storm. He then asked what was being done about the missing 200+ street champions who hadn't collected their equipment. Cllr Barrett confirmed that emails were sent monthly to those who hadn't collected equipment but as it was a voluntary scheme we can only encourage people to join. Councillor England advised he was happy to engage directly with those in his ward who haven't collected equipment if that would help. Councillor Barrett replied he would need to confirm if personal data can be released to Councillor England for this. **Action**.

Councillor Symington referred to the commitment with Hertfordshire County Council for a cleaner Hertfordshire and queried if there was a formal agreement, and if so, how is it defined, is there specific KPIs. She used street cleaning and litter picking as examples. Councillor Barrett advised he wasn't sure of a formal agreement and would need to come back to her on the KPI data. **Action**.

Councillor Birnie asked if the re-negotiations had taken place on the Tree Management arrangements. The Portfolio Holder advised that negotiations were in progress and there was a meeting programmed for next week on that topic.

Councillor Birnie said he was hopeful that those negotiations would lead to a more reasonable fee for the work we do. He sought assurance that was our aim. The Portfolio Holder confirmed that was the aspiration.

Councillor Banks, Portfolio Holder for Community and Regulatory Services

Councillor Banks presented a report on Community and Regulatory services:

ENVIRONMENTAL AND COMMUNITY PROTECTION

Covid-19

Case numbers peaked and then slightly reduced settling at high numbers of infections throughout January in Dacorum. This is due to the Omicron variant which became the dominant variant in December throughout the UK. The Team are now focusing its attentions on Self Isolation, Workplace Outbreaks and working with Community Partnerships Teams to support the vaccination programme.

Public Space Protection Order and Littering Enforcement Pilot Contract

The PSPO (Dog control and Town Centre restrictions) /Littering Pilot Contract went live on the 1st November.

The pilot is a 12 month zero cost to the council pilot, to provide us with information on the best way to enforce littering and PSPO's in future in Dacorum. This approach is one taken by numerous other Local Authorities to support enforcement teams with enforcement of PSPO's and littering offences.

In January 446 tickets were issued (two were cancelled), 344 of these were for littering offences. The remaining were for breach of the Borough wide Dog Control PSPO or the Hemel Town Centre PSPO.

Members will be further updated on the progress of the pilot, as and when data is available from the service as part of the updates to Overview and Scrutiny Committee (SPAE).

Officer have been working with District Partners to ensure that all wards in the borough are visited frequently, at least monthly for areas of low littering and PSPO complaints.

Fly-Tipping Prosecution

Mr Ramzan pleaded guilty on 19th Jan to two counts of fly tipping in July 21. Evidence was collated on the Covert Cameras. The court sentenced the Defendant to a fine of £1,221, ordered the Defendant to pay a victim surcharge of £122 and the Council's full costs of £1,664.71. Total of £3,007.71. This was publicised in both Hemel and Luton Press to act as a deterrent to others.

COMMUNITY

The Adventure Playgrounds re-opened for half term on 14th February. Although they have been closed for the general sessions over winter we still received over £9000 of income from hire of the 3g pitches, youth clubs and private hire. The Adventure Playgrounds and DBC Comms team have been promoting 'Relax and vax' sessions run in Hemel Hempstead and across Herts to help 12 to 18-year-olds who are nervous about having the vaccine. These sessions have specially trained vaccinators to help young people overcome worries like a fear of needles or other concerns to help reduce tension and support them through the process.

Questions

Councillor Adeleke advised that the Police website reports an increase in crime. He asked how closely the Council worked with the Police to keep crime under control and keep the Borough safe. The Portfolio Holder advised that during the lockdowns we actually saw a reduction in crime in all categories but now we are at the same level as 2019, prior to the pandemic. She advised the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) team worked closely with the Police and other relevant authorities to keep the Borough safe. An annual report is being prepared for 21/22 and will be shared with members and the public to highlight the work at the CSP. The date of that public meeting is yet to be set but will be publicized soon.

Councillor Guest referred to the refurbishment and reopening of the Northridge Way basketball courts. She asked how Hemel Storm, the local basketball team, will be involved in the reopening. The Portfolio Holder advised that the Coach of Hemel Storm was the one that first highlighted the state of the basketball courts and here we are now. She said they would be involved in any launch event or ribbon cutting once it has been scheduled in after the final markings have been finalised.

Councillor Wilkie thanked the team for their hard work with self-isolation visits. She then asked for the performance indicators for reducing litter versus fines, how do we know they're working? The Portfolio Holder advised the whole idea of the pilot is to establish if the enforcement work is successful. Clean, Safe and Green have reported an improvement with litter and dog-fouling which is a good indication that the pilot is having a positive effect.

Councillor England asked if the Portfolio Holder agreed the reports of enforcement fine fraud and elderly individuals being bullied by district enforcement officers were worrying. The Portfolio Holder advised there had been 3 reported scam incidents out of the 2000+fixed penalty noticed issued and these incidents have been dealt with by the Police. Those cases were alarming and any further incidents should be reported to the Police. She explained there had been approximately 50 complaints of bullying by enforcement officers. The body-cam footage has been reviewed and not one of those complaints have been upheld. She had no doubt that the officers were qualified and were doing a professional job to keep the Borough clean and tidy.

5. MOTION

The following Motion was proposed by Councillor Timmis and seconded by Councillor Tindall:

I move that Dacorum Borough Council strongly opposes Luton Airport's further planned expansion, from 18 million passengers per annum to 32 million passengers per annum by 2040, with the resulting negative impacts of increased noise, emissions and surface transport. This disproportionately impacts the Watling Ward villages in Dacorum, and more widely our Borough and much of Hertfordshire. Given National Climate Change goals, air travel awareness, and noise and environmental pollution levels, it cannot be justified. This cannot go unchallenged and so Dacorum Borough Council will therefore commit to oppose the expansion of the airport at every opportunity.

A recorded vote was held:

For: 37 (Adeleke, Allen, Anderson, Banks, Barrett, Beauchamp, Bhinder, Birnie, Claughton, Dhyani, Douris, Elliot, England, Freedman, Griffiths, Guest, Harden, Hearn, Hobson, Hollinghurst, Johnson, Link, Sobaan Mahmood, Suqlain Mahmood, Peter, Ransley, Riddick (Mayor), Rogers, Silwal, Stevens, Sutton, Taylor, Timmis, Tindall, Williams, Wilkie and Wyatt Lowe)

Against: 1 (Arslan) Abstain: 1 (Foster)

Therefore the Motion was carried.

6. QUESTIONS

Question for Councillor Andrew Williams from Councillor Sally Symington:

At the last meeting of the Full Council, you agreed to write follow up letters to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable of Hertfordshire Police as no response had been received to the following questions agreed by the Council on 17 November 2021 to the following:

- a. To ask what steps they are taking to review safeguarding and vetting procedures and misconduct processes in Hertfordshire Police in light of what has been learnt during the sentencing of a serving metropolitan police officer on 30 September 2021.
- b. To ask whether they will review the wider workforce culture in relation to violence against women and girls.
- c. Urging Hertfordshire Police formally to record Misogyny as a hate crime.

The dual issues of Violence Against Women and Girls manifested in the press by the high profile cases relating amongst other things to the late convicted sex offender, Jeffery Epstein, and his cohort; and the recent conviction of a Hertfordshire police officer for corruption and making indecent images of children and charges against another serving officer for raping a child under 13 highlight the ongoing importance of this issue.

- **Q1**. Could the Leader confirm the date the follow up letter was sent and the response received from the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable?
- **Q2**. Does the Leader think it is appropriate that it took two letters for the Chief Constable and the Police and Crime Commissioner to respond to such an important issue?

Responses from Councillor Williams:

Response to Q1. The original letter was sent by post, the follow up was sent by email on 10th February and the response was sent on 16th February.

Response to Q2. I agree it was a long time to receive a response as the initial letter was sent in December and it would have been better to receive a response sooner.

Question for Councillor Andrew Williams from Councillor Adrian England:

At a public meeting of Health in Dacorum on 8th December 2021, an apparent commitment was made verbally by West Herts Hospital Trust, to conduct a comparative costing of a Greenfield hospital site. This exchange was recorded on the MS Teams recording but has not appeared in the subsequent Minutes. There appears to be some question of interpretation as to whether or not this offer was hypothetical or actual.

At a subsequent meeting of several Dacorum-based hospital campaign groups with the Health and Social Care Secretary of State, together with and arranged by Hemel Hempstead's MP, campaigners had sought to rely on this witnessed commitment and indeed to refer to it in the meeting with the SoS. This was not possible, due to it being missing from the Minutes and the MS Teams recording not being readily-available.

In view of the critical importance to Dacorum residents of this issue, does the Leader of the Council agree that it is regrettable that this MS Teams recording of a public meeting was not simply published on YouTube and/or the Dacorum Borough Council website, for full transparency?

What is the Council-agreed policy and procedure for the making and storing of MS Teams and video recordings? How long are meeting recordings retained, for which meetings, and can the Leader confirm these are all now available publicly, either published at the time or in response to an FOI request?

Having equipped the Forum Council Chamber and Committee rooms with robot-cameras, will the Council now adopt a practice of pre-promoting public participation in public Full Council and scrutiny (OSC) meetings, including via joining MS Teams meetings, streaming video recordings of meetings live (subject to a short delay up to a minute) and through the clipping of entire meeting items as separate segments for digestible watch-back?

Response from Councillor Williams:

With regard the meeting of Health in Dacorum on 8th December, a query against the minutes was lodged, in response the Chair of the meeting listened to the recording and reviewed it against the minutes produced; it is the view of the Chair that the minutes are an accurate representation of the discussion. The meeting was recorded on MS Teams and this allowed the Chair to confirm the accuracy of the minutes.

The Council has invested significantly to upgrade its facilities to enable us to move to support fully virtual and hybrid meetings and decision making and subsequently look at how we could best support the Council and its Members in returning to meetings taking place in person as the emergency legislation changed around virtual decision making.

Our priority throughout this has been to ensure the safety of officers and elected Members in attending these meetings and carrying out their statutory duties; resource has rightly been focused on ensuring all practical measures are in place to facilitate this. We are now reaching a position where we can move from a reactive to a proactive approach and understandably officers require time to assess what has worked well, what requires improvement and ensure the infrastructure and technology we have in place is able to deliver.

The Council will continue to develop polices, practices and procedures that support the streaming of meetings to enable this to be rolled out more widely and officers will consult members as these policies are developed. In the meantime, we continue to allow pubic participation in person, as well as making meetings available remotely to view either by way of MS Teams or live streaming. We continue to produce minutes as an accurate record of discussion and decisions. Members are also able to access any MS Teams recordings by viewing the chat box of the said meeting where the recording should be available for them to view.

Recordings are currently retained for 3 months but this is being reviewed and will be included in the policies mentioned above.

Question for Councillor Griffiths from Councillor Garrick Stevens:

It is known there are a number of refugees from Afghanistan and their families being cared for in the Borough.

While it is welcome that accommodation costs will continue to be met pending their long-term resettlement, the Government has made an announcement that it will cease to provide toiletries and similar for such refugees.

Has the Council considered, under the circumstances, what measures might be undertaken so that toiletries and such like can continue to be made available?

Response from Councillor Griffiths:

Hertfordshire currently has 3 'bridging' hotels being used as temporary accommodation for a number of families from Afghanistan while they await long term resettlement. Hertfordshire County Council are providing wraparound support, working with DBC and the East of England LGA and the voluntary and community sector to help residents access vital health, education and employability support for locations in Dacorum.

Initially the Home Office provided funding to each of the hotels to purchase items such as toiletries for residents whilst staying at the hotels. The Home Office recently removed this facility and hotel residents were notified that they would need to purchase these items themselves. This change was discussed by the Strategic Migration Steering Group and where needed families will continue to be supplied toiletries and other essential items from volunteers and donations coordinated by Hertfordshire County Council. All residents in the hotels are supported to claim Universal Credit whilst they are seeking work and housing costs, meals and bus passes continue to be provided by HCC and partners.

Dacorum Borough Council have committed to find accommodation for 4 families from Afghanistan to ensure those who assisted the army and face risk to life would be able to apply for resettlement. Support for these families is being provided by the Refugee Council to ensure they receive access to health, wellbeing, education and employment services. Additionally Community and Voluntary groups and organisations continue to provide them, as well as other residents in need, support to ensure they are not in financial hardship and are able to participate in their local communities. This support does not detract from our work in supporting homelessness in our borough, or those on the existing housing register.

Question for Councillor Graham Barratt from Councillor Adrian England:

Earlier this month members received a list of trees that Dacorum will have planted over the winter 2021-22 period.

Dacorum organise tree planting in accordance with a list that we maintain of potential borough-wide planting sites. Sites that have been listed 'tree-free' the longest are considered first in our deliberations each year. Tree replacement prior to that 2019 was ad hoc and based on visual amenity and Officer opinion.

Dacorum have 249 planting sites still listed without a date of tree removal, so those are being addressed as a priority each time we organise planting.

We are planting about 70 – 90 Street or housing trees per year, with an overall total of over 900+ trees on our potential planting list.

I have residents who have been asking since 2018 for felled trees in Hardy and Springfield Roads to be replaced. All of us can probably say the same.

As I was advised, I relayed at the time that immediate replacement was not immediately possible – but it is now 2022!

This means that it is taking seven years to replace some lost trees, in streets and residential amenity areas.

- Q1. How many street or housing trees were planted during each of the last seven years, since 2015?
- **Q2**. How many each year were substantial sapling specimens and how many were whips?
- **Q3**. What is the survival rate for successful establishment of street and housing trees, in each of those years?
- **Q4**. By how much does he expect the 249 site removal and replanting deficit to have been improved by next year?

Responses from Councillor Barrett

Response to Q1:

All below are 'standard' sized trees 2014/15 46 2015/16 44 32 2016/17 2017/18 67 2018/19 68 2019/20 70 2020/21 173 / 1125 whips 2021/22 96 / 900 whips / 17 fruit trees / 400+ hedging plants

Response to Q2: Detailed in response to Q1.

Response to Q3: We don't monitor survival rates specifically.

Response to Q4: We don't have a specific target. We are planting trees at a much greater pace than we ever have and will continue to do so.

Question for Councillor Andrew Williams from Councillor Sally Symington

The Audit report identified that Procurement Standing Orders valued at £6.9m were set aside (waived) 40 times during 2020/21. The failure to obtain competitive quotes in some instances for procurement awards in excess of £25,000 was also identified.

The report additionally highlighted that there is no formal oversight in place by way of reporting such incidences to Committee or Cabinet.

Could the portfolio holder identify the actions being undertaken to ensure compliance with the Council's own Procurement Standing Orders? And confirm that oversight will be introduced to ensure transparency, accountability and fairness in the procurement process?

Response from Councillor Williams:

The commissioning and procurement standing orders provide advice and guidance for officers and members who are responsible for taking any steps that may lead to a contract being entered into. These standing orders will always apply unless a suspension is approved. An exemption to comply with the standing orders may only be made by the Cabinet or a Portfolio Holder responsible for the service affected by the contract. The suspension of special circumstances justifying the exception must be recorded in the full cabinet minutes or the portfolio decision so there is accountability for the decisions. In response to the audit report the recommendation is the following processes will be introduced from April 2022 to ensure that formal oversight of when the PSO's are set aside and non-compliant activities are currently presented to the finance and resources overview and scrutiny committee every quarter. The council has also subsequently set up a commercial board, part of their remit is to review all procurement over £75,000 which matches the financial threshold for seeking a tender.

Question for Councillor Alan Anderson from Councillor Sally Symington

There have been a number of complaints about the mud on the road along Shootersway, in particular outside the Old Orchard site. This is causing tension and confusion regarding the work of the contractor on the neighbouring site at the rear of Hanburys.

Could the Portfolio Holder confirm there is a Construction Management Plan in place with the contractor at Old Orchard and what enforcement can take place in the event of breaches?

Response from Councillor Anderson:

Following the receipt of further information from the applicants the Council has now recommended the formal discharge of the outstanding planning condition relating to the

Construction Management Plan associated with the development of the Old Orchard at the LA4 site. A decision should be issued later today.

Both developers have been contacted regarding their responsibilities to undertake wheel washing of vehicles prior to them entering the highway from the development site.

Officers will inspect the site to check whether this is being undertaken.

The DBC case officer has also been forwarded an email exchange between the developers at the Old Orchard and a Licensing Enforcement Officer within the Highway Network Management team at the County Council. So the County Council are monitoring from an enforcement prospective in relation to the requirements under the Highways Act 1980 (as amended).

7. BUSINESS FROM THE LAST COUNCIL MEETING

Councillor Symington asked for the action points from the previous meeting to be circulated and added to future agendas. The Mayor confirmed that request was recorded and would be actioned.

8. CABINET REFERRALS

Resolved:

That the following be approved:

15 February 2022

Item 8.1 CA/07/22 SENIOR OFFICER PAY POLICY

Decision

- (1) That Cabinet recommends to Council that it adopts the Pay Policy for 2022/23 as set out in appendix 1 to the cabinet report.
- (2) That Cabinet recommends to Council that authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in conjunction with the Council's Monitoring Officer to approve any amendments to the Pay Policy throughout the financial year 2022/2023, which may be required as a result of legislative changes.

Item 8.2 CA/10/22 CUSTOMER SERVICE STRATEGY

Decision

- (1) Approves the outline plan for phase two implementation and recommends to Council the drawdown from reserves of £150,000 to complete the phase 2 work.
- (2) Approves the principle of a new Head of Transformation post to lead the on-going transformational change programme, including the Customer Strategy, and recommends to Council the drawdown from reserves of £180,000 to fund the post.

Item 8.3 CA/11/22 TREASURY MANAGEMENT- MID YEAR REVIEW

Decision

That Council accepts this report on mid-year treasury management performance and prudential indicators for 2021/22

Item 8.4 CA/12/22 BUDGET REPORT

Councillor Elliot made the following introduction on the proposed budget:

"When I addressed you 12 months ago to recommend my last budget to the Council, the Pandemic was still in full flow. My heart goes out to all those that have suffered or lost loved ones to the pandemic, which I know includes many people within Dacorum, including staff and Members. Twelve months on it would appear that we are in a much improved position in regards to Covid and are hopeful we can continue on the path of full economic recovery.

The destruction wrought by Covid has not been limited to health. The steps taken nationwide to combat the virus have brought challenges of their own, and many local businesses and local families have suffered financial hardship as swathes of the economy have been locked down for months at a time.

Within this challenging environment, Dacorum Borough Council has played a key role in the Covid response, extending help and support to our businesses and communities at a time they needed it most. I am particularly proud that in continuing to provide our day-to-day services, the Council has been a visible beacon of stability amid so much uncertainty. I have no doubt that this consistency and reliability has been reassuring for many residents across Dacorum, but in particular for the most vulnerable within our community.

Support for Business

Since March last year the Council has administrated a large volume of separate grant schemes on behalf of Central Government and local discretionary schemes. The need to make payments to struggling businesses as quickly as possible has meant that schemes that would ordinarily be designed over a number of months or years, have instead been rolled out within a matter of weeks.

It is a tribute to Council staff, particularly those within the Revenues & Benefits Team and the Economic Development Team that they have stayed on top of constantly evolving Government guidance and paid out £16.5m of grants to over 2,000 local businesses.

In addition to this, the Council has worked closely with its commercial tenants throughout the last year to ensure it does all it can to support them through the pandemic, and into the recovery phase.

The Council will continue to work closely with its public and private sector partners over the coming months to ensure we do as much as possible to help the local economic recovery through the post pandemic times.

Budget context

Over the last 10 years, this council has successfully risen to the challenge of saving over £7.5m whilst simultaneously protecting and improving the services we provide to our residents. This budget outlines plans to save a further £300k, through new income streams in 2022/23.

The medium-term future of local authority finance will remain uncertain until the outcome of Government's Local Government Finance Review, which will determine how funding will be allocated to local authorities in the medium term beyond 2022/23.

That is why this council has proposed a budget for 2022 with a strong focus on sustainability, and continuing to deliver its corporate priorities into the medium-term. We have already made significant strides towards balancing the budget in future years, having identified initiatives of over £300k to address MTFS savings targets beyond 2023.

Continuing to invest in the Borough

Despite the extent of the financial challenges we are facing, this council's history of prudent financial management means that we are in a position to propose a highly ambitious capital investment programme ... in excess of £315m over the next 5 years ... to further enhance the services we provide to our residents, and the environment in which they live.

Some of the areas identified for capital investment include:

- £88m investment in our existing housing stock, which continues to provide high quality homes for tens of thousands of people across our borough
- £157m investment in our ambitious and successful housing new-build programme
 ... helping more people to live affordably in an area which has some of the highest house prices in the country
- £50m investment in various ventures which combine social benefit with financial return, including significant investment in a new sports centre in Berkhamsted and investment in neighbourhood facilities.

- £2.5m Investment in supporting the local community sector to develop their community services.
- £6.6m continued investment in the Council's vehicle fleet, driving the desire for greener vehicles to support the delivery of our frontline services.

Council Tax

As part of the budget for 2022/23, the Council is proposing to increase Council Tax by £5 for a Band D property, which equates to less than 10 pence per week.

Central government is likely to consider each council's ability to raise tax when deciding how much funding it will provide in the future ... in simple terms, Government is likely to reduce future funding by an amount that it **expects** the council to raise through increasing its council tax.

Proposing this increase in line with government expectation means that we have done all we can to protect Dacorum's overall funding position for future years.

Housing

In line with Government guidance the council is proposing to increase housing rents by CPI plus 1%. The average rent for a council property next year will be £111.23 per week, which following the 4-year period of statutory rent reductions means that average rent in Dacorum remains **lower than it was in 2015.**

Despite this recent period of enforced rent reductions, the Council has continued to make housing delivery one of its key priorities, and the Council recently completed its 338th **new home.** In addition the council Magenta Court Development won the Best Small Social Housing Development at the National Building excellence awards.

This trend will continue ... the Council's approved plans are to **deliver a further 408 homes** across the borough over the next 4 years.

We are also investing in the infrastructure that will enable us to deliver our housing obligations to the most vulnerable in our community in the best way possible.

The council has achieved a match funding grant from Homes England to deliver 8 new purpose built follow on accommodation units to provide additional support for the homeless or those at risk of homelessness, due to be open in the spring 2022.

In Conclusion

Unquestionably, the Council faces significant financial challenges in the years ahead as we play our role in the Covid Recovery Phase.

However, this Council can enter this period feeling confident that with the commitment of its Members and staff we will continue to deliver for our residents."

Councillor Williams seconded the budget proposal and reserved his right to speak.

Councillor Tindall proposed an amendment to the budget and this was seconded by Councillor England. The amendment was as follows:

To use the Negative RSG Contribution of £900,000 as follows –

- a. To set up a specific reserve to be available to kick-start initiatives for carbon reduction in Council domestic properties £450,000.
- b. To set up a specific reserve for the purchase of electric vehicles in and for the Council and facilitate development of propulsion £450,000.

Councillor Tindall felt our response to climate change had to speed up otherwise we would get to 2030-2040 in serious trouble along with the rest of the country. It is therefore essential that the officers who are doing sterling work have the ability to call upon funds should new initiatives or plans be developed during the course of the year. It is for that reason that he suggests the amended proposal.

Councillor Wilkie and Freedman spoke in support of the amendment.

Councillor Birnie and Adeleke spoke against the amendment.

Councillor England made the following statement in support of the amendment:

"I thank the officers for their work to prepare the Dacorum Budget.

This is a crucial year for making progress if we are to meet our targets in relation to 2030.

So this is a purposeful, constructive and costed budget amendment which looks at an amount of money which the Council is receiving as a one-off and puts upon it a focus, not just for the machine of the Council, but as a signal to residents, of where we need to focus transformation.

REDUCE, RE-USE and RECYCLE

I thank the Cabinet for adopting the proposal to support regeneration in the north-west of the borough. Two remaining proposals were in relation to a Specific Reserve to kick-start initiatives for carbon reduction in Council domestic properties. £500k and creating a specific reserve to progress the purchase of Electric vehicles in and by the Council and the means of propulsion £400k.

So as a Council we can put this money into the general reserves and forget about it, or we can make visible a local mechanism for addressing two looming problems which are set to cost our residents money in the next several years, especially those who are reliant upon social housing.

We put our money where our mouth is.

In both cases the transformative effects are long-lasting, even though they only have this investment as a one-off. People will be encouraged to reduce their consumption!

I would like to explain the thinking with the LD amendment, in respect of these two urgent items.

These are areas where Dacorum needs to raise its ambition; the climate emergency is the biggest factor facing us and it is costing residents money, meanwhile DBC has an opportunity to gain maximum value from a sum which, with inflation at 7.8%, will become devalued quickly if left in reserves!

- 1. Set up a Specific Reserve to kick-start initiatives for **carbon reduction** in Council domestic properties. £500k
- 2. Set up a Specific Reserve to progress the purchase of **Electric vehicles** in and by the Council and the means of propulsion. £400k.

The current DBC plan for insulation, scrutinised at SPAE OSC, does not get us to 100% by 2030 – that is why this reserve, grants like the one announced and probably others, are necessary – literally to fill a carbon-wasting gap.

We know that Dacorum is currently committed only to insulating properly 90% of its large social housing stock, so this money surely HAS to have as a priority advancing that ambition to 100% by 2030, and of course ANYTHING we can do in 2022/23 is worth far more than action delayed until the latter half of this decade.

I have already tonight mentioned the grant for insulation in Northend; nonetheless more is needed and the sooner the better.

If this Council is serious about the Climate emergency, the taking of opportunities and the creating of this targeted reserve would confirm it.

We also know that it is vital to involve and support our residents in preserving – indeed improving their quality of life, and reducing their rising heating bills.

By creating this fund we can also harness the efforts of 150,000 residents to work hand-in-hand with the local council, to tackle climate change. Much preferable to quietly putting money in the reserves. This is, after all, an "emergency".

We know that EVs are here and the EVCP grid is not. Many other towns and districts are using EVs to respond to the emergency, and at the same time improve air quality and noise levels for residents.

Part of that is transitioning the fleet; the reason used for not taking this opportunity. The Cabinet say they have a "fleet reserve" and if need be they could vire across reserves to support that fleet reserve for the purchase of electric vehicles.

The Leader states he "had already discussed at length with the Chief Executive about how important his view was that they move towards a different method of powering the commercial fleet vehicles, at this stage electric was being considered by the organisation."

This is about more than buying EVs.

This fund would enable Dacorum to call some of the shots with regard to appropriate type and location of suitable EVCPs, rather than being beholden to poor levels of customer service from infrastructure providers who find themselves in a buyers' market.

The scope of this fund allows us to strike a balance which takes opportunities to improve the EVCP network quickly, and offers the option to invest in EVs for use by the council directly, thus taking a lead and showing that Dacorum is not lagging behind its residents growing adoption on EV.

A recent report in The Guardian based on a study by "Climate Emergency UK" evaluated Dacorum as having done 45% of what it could have done, in terms of establishing its scale of ambition.

Somerset West and Taunton was the only council to score above 90% and was one of only 21 to get top marks for its plans to improve biodiversity and combat the ecological emergency.

It has developed a <u>climate-positive planning policy</u> and is building zero-carbon council houses, as well as retrofitting existing housing stock.

It has ensured that addressing both emergencies are strategic priorities for planning policies and design guides for new development, declared its area a fracking-free zone, pledged to manage council services, buildings and land in a biodiversity-friendly manner, and embed ecological initiatives alongside climate action in all work areas.

The council's entire pool car fleet will be electric by the end of 2022.

Next year's report will assess to what extent local authorities are on track to reach net zero emissions.

Clearly there is ample scope for more here in Dacorum and this amendment helpfully shows a way forward for Dacorum.

I hope all Councillors who burnish their "Green credentials" will support this amendment on a cross party basis?"

A recorded vote was held on the alternate budget:

For: 15 (Allen, Claughton, Dhyani, England, Foster, Freedman, Hobson, Hollinghurst, Link, Ransley, Stevens, Symington, Taylor, Tindall and Wilkie)

Against: 17 (Anderson, Banks, Barrett, Beauchamp, Birnie, Douris, Elliot, Griffiths, Guest, Harden, Hearn, Johnson, Riddick (Mayor), Rogers, Timmis, Williams and Wyatt-Lowe)

Abstain: 0

Absent for vote: 4 (Adeleke, Arslan, Peter and Silwal)

Therefore the amendment failed.

A recorded vote was then held on the preliminary budget:

For: 20 (Anderson, Arslan, Banks, Barrett, Beauchamp, Birnie, Douris, Elliot, Griffiths, Guest, Harden, Hearn, Johnson, Peter, Riddick (Mayor), Rogers, Silwal, Timmis, Williams and Wyatt-Lowe).

Against: 1 (Hollinghurst)

Abstain: 14 (Allen, Claughton, Dhyani, England, Foster, Freedman, Hobson, Link,

Ransley, Stevens, Symington, Taylor, Tindall and Wilkie)

Absent for vote: 1 (Adeleke)

Therefore it was resolved that the following be approved;

Decision

General Fund Revenue Estimate

- a) set a Dacorum Borough Council General Fund Council Tax requirement of £12.836m, and a provisional amount of £13.851m for the combined Borough Council and Parish Councils' requirement for 2022/23;
- b) approve a Band D Council Tax increase of £5 (2.4%) for Dacorum Borough Council;
- c) approve the base estimates for 2022/23, as shown in Appendix A1, and the indicative budget forecasts for 2022/23 2025/26, as shown in Appendix A2;
- d) approve the forecast balances of Revenue Reserves as shown in Appendix J, and approve section 11 of this report as the updated Reserves Strategy;
- e) approve increases in Fees and Charges for 2022/23 as set out in Appendices C3, D3, and E3;
- f) approve and adopt the Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23, attached at Appendix K;
- g) approve and adopt the Capital Strategy for 2022/23, attached at Appendix L;
- h) note that this budget paper, if approved by Council, will form part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Capital Programme

- i) approve the Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2026/27, as detailed in Appendix I;
- j) approve the financing proposals in Appendix I subject to an annual review of the financing options by the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources, during the preparation of the Statement of Accounts.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)

k) set dwelling rents according to the new MHCLG Rent Standard, which provides for a rent increase of CPI+1% (4.1% in total). The average dwelling rents is proposed to be £111.23 in 2022/23 (based on 52 weeks);

I) approve the HRA estimate for 2022/23 as shown in Appendix F.

Employer Terms and Conditions

m) note that the hourly rate of all Council employees continues to exceed the rate proposed by the rates of the Living Wage Foundation, for 2022/23 (to be reviewed annually thereafter).

Statement by Chief Finance Officer

n) approve the statement by the Chief Finance Officer regarding the robustness of the budget estimates and level of reserves as set out in Appendix M.

In addition, Dacorum Borough Council is to set aside £135k towards the Wendover Canal Trust restoration project. This is made up of a £25k initial payment to the trust and £110k that will be set aside to fund the final £110k once all other funding requirements have been achieved.

Item 8.5 CA/13/22 Q3 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Decision

Approval of the revised capital programme to move £5.78m slippage identified at Quarter 3 into financial year 2022/23 as detailed in Appendix C of the cabinet report.

Item 8.6 CA/14/22 MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT

Decision

That Council approves the annexed Code of Conduct for Councillors.

Item 8.7 CA/15/22 COMMITTEE TIMETABLE

Decision

That Council approves the Meeting Timetable for 2022/23 as set out in Appendix A to the cabinet report.

9. COUNCIL TAX DECLARATION 22/23

As the billing authority for the borough of Dacorum, the Council is required to set the Council Tax annually. The purpose of this report is to set the Council Tax for 2022/23 in accordance with statutory requirements.

A recorded vote was held:

For: 32 (Adeleke, Allen, Anderson, Banks, Barrett, Beauchamp, Birnie, Claughton, Dhyani, Douris, Elliot, England, Foster, Freedman, Griffiths, Guest, Harden, Hearn, Hobson, Johnson, Link, Peter, Riddick (Mayor), Rogers, Silwal, Stevens, Symington, Taylor, Timmis, Tindall, Wilkie, Williams and Wyatt-Lowe)

Against: 0

Abstain: 1 (Hollinghurst)

Therefore the Council Tax Declaration for 2022/23 was agreed.

10. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REFERRALS

There were no overview and scrutiny committee referrals.

11. REFERRAL FROM THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Council agreed that Dacorum opt into the national auditor arrangement scheme, overseen by the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), for procurement of External Audit appointments for financial years 2023/24 to 2027/28.

12. CHANGES TO THE COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

The following changes to committee membership were agreed:

- Remove Councillor Allen from the Finance and Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- Add Councillor Dhyani to the Finance and Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- Remove Councillor McDowell from the Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- Add Councillor Foster to the Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

13. CHANGES TO COMMITTEE DATES

There were no changes to committee dates.

14. CALL IN AND URGENCY PROCEDURE

The Council noted the following urgent Portfolio Holder Decision:

PH/001/22 - Additional Resilience Grant (ARG) Policy update

The meeting ended at 10.31 pm.

Agenda Item 5

Motion for Council April 13 2022

5.1 Motion one

Proposed by Cllr Julie Banks and Seconded by Cllr Anderson

We are saddened and disturbed by the unprovoked aggression against Ukraine, which has caused horrific devastation, and created an escalating humanitarian crisis with millions of women, children and the elderly displaced or affected whilst those able men and women fight a war.

In light of this, and as a way of expressing support for the people of Ukraine and members of our communities who are from or who have ties with Ukraine this Council;

- a. Condemns the unprovoked Russian invasion of Ukraine and stands in solidarity with the people of Ukraine and their families and friends, including those local to Dacorum
- b. Will work with and support the efforts of our local communities to provide help, and comfort to those in need.

FULL COUNCIL - FEBRUARY

ACTION POINTS FOR PORTFOLIO HOLDERS

Date of meeting	Action point	PH responsible for action	Response / Investigation Ongoing
23/02/22	Councillor Allen asked, further to the written response of his question from the last meeting, can the Portfolio Holder advise of the Council's response to the Network Rail Tender for a development partner as they state they received a warm preapplication response from the local Council. The Portfolio Holder advised that pre-application discussions were confidential but he will look into this and see what can be shared.	Cllr Anderson	Further to discussion at Council I'm getting in touch to arrange a briefing on the Station Gateway proposal. It is still very early in the development of the scheme but we can of course update Members on what we know. Although it might seem a little way off but can I suggest the following dates: Tuesday 22 March 7pm Wednesday 30 March 7pm This will allow us to obtain an update from the developer and prepare the necessary information in time for the briefing. I propose to conduct this via Teams, which I hope this is acceptable. Please let me know if either date would work and I'll make the arrangements. Alex Robinson Interim Group Manager - Planning and Development

23/02/22	Councillor England thanked the Trees and Woodlands Team for all their hard work in the clean-up of the recent storm. He then asked what was being done about the missing 200+ street champions who hadn't collected their equipment. Cllr Barrett confirmed that emails were sent monthly to those who hadn't collected equipment but as it was a voluntary scheme we can only encourage people to join. Councillor England advised he was happy to engage directly with those in his ward who haven't collected equipment if that would help. Councillor	Cllr Barrett	Reflecting further on your offer to encourage registered non active Street Champions, it would be a breach of GDPR for the Council to share any contact information with a third party. Therefore I must decline your offer.
00/00/00	Barrett replied he would need to confirm if personal data can be released to Councillor England for this.	011 5	
23/02/22	Councillor Symington referred to the commitment with Hertfordshire County Council for a cleaner Hertfordshire and queried if there was a formal agreement, and if so, how is it defined, is there specific KPIs? She used street cleaning and litter picking as examples. Councillor Barrett advised he would need to come back to her on the KPI data.	Cllr Barrett	Ongoing.
23/02/22	Councillor Freedman queried if we were legally able to stagger rent and service change increases throughout the year rather than one firm increase in order to assist our residents. The Portfolio Holder advised it hadn't been looked at but she would need to investigate the legal ramifications.	Cllr Griffiths	The concept of an annual increase in charges for services is a generally accepted across the economy and the majority of sectors and services. The rationale for this is both to provide a system that is consistent and reliable for the end user whilst also ensuring maximum efficiency in implementing annual changes.
			It is generally accepted that annual increase in personal income/salaries is implemented at the start of the financial year and hence increases in rent and service charges at that point aligns effectively. Rent increases are aligned by the Rent Standard and so increase by CPI from September the previous year and they are therefore aligned with unemployment benefits and tax rebates.

In terms of pragmatism the rent is set and approved once a year and the billing for the whole year is then set up on the rent billing system and communicated to tenants so that DD's and other mechanisms for paying the rent are set up. Gradual monthly incremental changes are likely to cause confusion as well as issues around management of rental accounts and payments.

In addition this would raise other issues such as how much would we charge new tenants that move in mid-year? The end of year rate, or a monthly rate that goes up incrementally? Which rate do we use to assess the affordability on the current year rent levels? The likelihood is that income and benefits will not change throughout the year yet rental costs would continually increase.

The main issue in regards to the proposal is that the council could decide to move to incremental increases but it is likely to be very expensive to operate, confusing for residents and out of sync of the rental sector, which would in itself confuse residents.

Agenda Item 8

ITEM 7 - REFERRALS FROM CABINET

15 March 2022

Item 7.1 CA/24/22 GARAGE STRATEGY

Decision

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND

- 1. **That Council approve** additional 21/22 supplementary funding of £110k revenue for project costs, to be funded from the Dacorum Development reserve.
- 2. **That Council approve** a supplementary capital budget for 2022/23 garage investment of £500k. The specific investment decisions to be delegated to the Strategic Director (Corporate and Commercial) in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources and s.151 Officer.

Corporate Objectives

A clean, safe and enjoyable environment Ensuring economic growth and prosperity Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery

Deputy Monitoring Officer:

No comments to add to the report.

S.151 Officer

Garages represent a significant income stream to the Council. The report sets out proposed oneoff investment in Garages over a three- year period to support and further develop this income stream and the quality of the service provided to customers. Proposed revenue costs would be funded from the Dacorum Development reserve. Capital costs would be funded from a combination of capital receipts arising from garage sales, alongside other sources of capital financing.

Advice

Cllr Elliot said that they have a lack of data about the condition of the garages, they do need investment and they need to look at how these are to be refurbished going forward. It could be that they put in business units; there are a lack of workshops in the area, so that is one aspect to be considered that could be considered as a result of the condition survey. The survey will be around £150,000 and hopefully that would give them the information that they need on the garages they have and the condition that they are in. They will have to invest more in these garages as they have not invested much over the past decades. They will be ring fencing £500,000 from the sale of some of the garage sites and put that into the general fund rather than a separate fund. The garages will be removed from under the Housing service and moved into the general fund. There will be a focus on letting out these garages.

Cllr Griffiths said that she was delighted to see this report before them and it being moved on. Members will know she had complained for a few years about the fact they were not investing in their Council stock of garages and therefore each site had got slowly worse and

that then means less people were renting them due to the area itself was getting worse. She agreed that they need the investment which would bring more of the garages back into use, it was more of an invest to save in many ways as the more that were in use the more income the council would get. She was more than happy for it to come out of the Housing Scrutiny and into the finance as it has not really been a housing function for a long time; She welcomed and fully supported the report.

Cllr Barratt also welcomes the report; he thought it was a tremendous commercial opportunity. He asked how many garages the £500k would refurbish/repurpose. He also asked where they might be turned into commercial units, would planning permission be required to do that.

NHowcutt said that in relation to the second question, as it would be a change of use there would be planning permission required which they may have a problem with in the 1st few quarters of next financial year however they would deal with that when it comes. In terms of the £500k of investment, this all depends on what you would be doing with the garage. Part of the work will look at supply and demand, what the end user wants, making sure that the garages are fit for purpose and for the medium term bring a commercial return. In terms of how they fund that and what they get from the sales, each site is worth very different amounts depending on their location and the quality of the asset that they are selling.

Cllr Douris wanted to confirm that they were only talking about the garages within the housing stock and not the commercial stock.

Cllr Griffiths confirmed that the ex-council stock was transferred to the general fund some time ago.

Cllr Tindall asked that where commercial use was considered the closeness of residents be taken into account in the type of business that is let too. He asks that they try to avoid nuisance such as fumes or noise. So perhaps the use of which the garages are put is a factor when determining their future use.

Cllr Elliot confirmed that he could confirm that. The residents would be paramount and they are there to ensure the residents have a reasonable way of life.

Cllr Williams said that the majority of garages are in residential areas and industrial type businesses would not be encourages. They would be looking at more of lock up and storage type businesses.

Agenda Item 9

2021/22 Housing & Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee Report

2021 revealed the first signs of a possible post-pandemic normality. The recovery was assisted by the corporate grant scheme although there were still pressures on the budget.

The Capital Programme was rephased as expenditure moved from 2020/21 year to 2021/22. The programme was temporarily disrupted by the pandemic, but it still remained in sharp focus for the council. Dacorum has always championed the building of social housing and were one of the first to do so in 2015 when restrictions on building were eased. It was reassuring to see that the events of 2020 did not change this commitment and building works resumed as quickly as possible. 2021 saw the opening of a number of newly built housing developments across Dacorum. Included in this was The Martindale housing development which was a mixture of private and social housing. This was an innovative new way to ensure of funding the required social housing.

The spirit of unity and community continued despite the urge to move back to normality. In keeping with this, The Private Rented Sector team worked closely with the Homelessness Prevention Team and prevented a number of illegal evictions from taking place. This ensured that families in Dacorum still received support as they transitioned to post-pandemic living. The team also continued to licence HMOs and the number of licenced properties increased by 20% in the year to June 2021 and continues to increase.

The tenancy sustainment team, despite being under increased pressure, were successful in managing to reduce rent arrears for households across Dacorum. Tenants in Dacorum experienced negative impacts on their household income but stayed committed to maintaining their rent payments with the support of the team and early advise made available to households. The arrears at the end of the year came in at 3.9% against a forecast of 5%.

Whilst the headlines were rightfully filled with news of the pandemic and cautions on lifestyles, the council did not forget it's duty to those affected but other tragedies. The Committee agreed with the recommendation to provide certainty and stability to a ten Syrian Refugee Families that were forced to leave a very dangerous and war-torn country. This group were amongst several families that arrived in the UK with government support.

Following consultation with the Tenants and Leaseholders Committee, The Housing Allocations Policy was presented to the Committee for review. A number of amendments were recommended in particular a change to the time required to qualify for local connection and the income thresholds for applications. The committee questioned whether the figures presented reflected current income levels and the cost of living. After review and some discussion, it was confirmed that the threshold in Dacorum both considers and reflects both points and is more generous than some other Local Authorities in Hertfordshire. Affordability data had been closely looked at when considering the thresholds as well as the rise in blended families and families with a disabled member in their household. This ensures that the revised policy is the fairest it can be.

The borough stayed committed to maintaining its Physical Activity, Wellbeing, Arts & Culture offer. Highlights included: The Virtual Wellness Festival, Tring Book Club and DBC Author Webinar Events, The Colourful Minds Couse and The re-opening of The Old Town Hall. The Virtual Wellness Festival, a week-long health and wellbeing event, took place in June 2021. This event aims to raise the profile of health and wellbeing services and support organisations in Dacorum. It had a reach of reach was over 16.5k with positive testimonials from individuals from residents. The Colourful Minds course took place with residents completing the course and participating in the WEMWBS well-being evaluation. The gross mental health social value of the course to Dacorum was calculated at £9432 and feedback from attendees is exemplified by this comment:

"Everybody should have this instead of being offered anti-depressants."

The Committee had previously referred the Physical Activity Strategy and was pleased to see the revised plan return with 28 new activities that were more geographically inclusive across the borough. The additional activities addressed the gaps and demand previously identified by the Committee. These projects/initiatives are split between DBC, Apex and Dacorum Sports Network and cover a wide range of sports and physical activities including: refurbishing the basketball court at Northridge way, Shape Up Weight Management programme, Your Town 2021 5 k fun run and pledges for the refurbishment of Berkhamsted & Hemel Hempstead Hockey Club. Additionally, consultation started for the redevelopment of Berkhamsted Leisure Centre. Thirty-seven local and national sports organisations were included in the consultation process. The Concept Pasing Sals, a RIBA Stage 2 Cost plan and aligned revenue

business plan for the proposals have been completed. The committee looks forward to receiving the Stage 2 Briefing Paper that will provide a summary of the scheme development, site constraints, concept site layout and general arrangement layouts, initial phasing considerations and initial sustainability strategy. The project has an estimated completion date of May 2025.

Tring Book festival worked with Dacorum Borough Council to run two webinar events, one with ex RAF John Nichol and one with Michael Morpurgo. The Michael Morpurgo event attracted over 3000 children and 14 Dacorum schools received signed copies of 'Farm Boy' which is his follow up from 'War Horse'.

An Operations Lead officer as well as the Arts Administrative Officer were recruited for Old Town Hall. These two key roles ensured that the Old Town Hall was ready to reopen once restrictions were lifted. The Old Town Hall team prepared a short programme of outdoor summer events including a children theatre performance in Gadebridge Park and two comedy events managed by the old Town Hall but delivered at the Olde Kings Arms in the Old High Street. Indoor performances recommenced in Autumn 2021.

The corporate planning process was undertaken to develop the priorities and identify opportunities for the Council for the next three years. The resulting budget proposals were brought to the scrutiny committee. A number of consistent themes across the council were identified which included: Climate change action; Improving customer focus; Improving processes through digitisation and the development of a Digital Strategy; Developing positive leadership and culture and the need for a new People Strategy; Community Safety; Economic Recovery and a refreshed focus on the Council's place shaping programme.

Additionally, a specific and detailed external Service Review was undertaken of the housing service. During the review, an action plan was developed which the Housing Services Management Team has used to prioritise service development activities. Key activities include:

- Making use of a 100% stock condition survey as a means to advise and refine the HRA Asset Management Plan regrading improvements, component replacements and to advise on the fabric first requirements of the stock, as a key element of meeting the target to be net zero carbon by 2050.
- Delivering major improvements to IT systems to bring all data together to provide efficiencies in use and also service improvements to tenants.
- Establishing a cross-Council Housing Development Corporate Group which will provide oversight to the Council's own housing development programme and will also provide focus to the broader strategic activities the Council is undertaking to meet housing need in the borough
- . Preparing for and commencing, the procurement process for the significant contracts for the repair, maintenance and improvement of the Council's housing stock.
- Improving partnership working with key agencies to develop strong multiagency working practices which support the Council's most vulnerable households. A focus on improving the joint working between the Community Safety and Housing Teams to help tackle Domestic Abuse, ASB and more challenging issues, such as cuckooing.
- Continuing to provide an excellent Homelessness prevention service and support to those families that become homeless and ensuring a sufficient supply of good quality Temporary Accommodation.

The Corn Mill Court, housing development, in Berkhamsted received an award from the Hertfordshire Association of Architects for the conservation work carried out on the properties fronting the high street. This is the second award the scheme has received beating the schemes of larger and higher resourced national companies. This is just one of the awards the council has won for its new developments in recent years, which illustrates the housing team's commitment and resolve to provide the best quality housing possible to those in need.

The Assistant Director of Housing, Natasha Beresford, won Inspirational colleague of the year at the Housing Heroes Awards. The committee were not surprised by this win as it has long recognised the exceptional work done by the housing team with Natasha often being a person whose work stands out. It was a delight to see this recognised on a larger scale.

Page 37

I would like to thank my Vice-Chairman, ClIr Gbola Adeleke, the Committee, Portfolio Holders and Officers for their support through out this past year. I would also like specifically to thank Sarah Turner for her excellent work in taking the minutes of our meetings.

Councillor Isy Imarni

Chairman, Housing & Communities Overview & Scrutiny Committee April 2021

Strategic Planning & Environment OSC Annual Review 2021-22

The committee held 11 meetings covering a variety of topics. The committee regularly scrutinises budget preparations and quarterly reports from relevant departments in the Council, which is a core part of its role in the democratic process. These are invariably well presented reports and I would like especially to commend those from the Finance & Resources for clarity and from Environmental Services for the comprehensive nature of the reports from Cupid Green in particular.

The Council has had to cope with both the ongoing Covid 19 pandemic, staff shortages, upgrading software and the continuing preparation of the New Local Plan. Therefore the environmental services, waste services and planning departments (in particular planning enforcement) have been under extreme pressure. Since these departments fall under the aegis of SP&E OSC, it has been a very busy period for the committee, which has been obliged to schedule some extra meetings. In fact a total of 11 meetings were held and the minutes for each of these meetinga are freely available on the Council's website.

In addition to quarterly reports for the departments which come under the remit of this OSC, the principle topics dealt with by each of these meetings are shown in the table below.

DATE	TOPICS
27/04/21	Water & sewerage resources/S.W.Herts Joint Strategic Plan
15/06/2021	Gadebridge Park development/Abandoned vehicles policy
30/06/2021	New Local Plan consultation results and progress
07/07/2021	Planning enforcement/Dacorum waste management/Fly tipping
22/09/2021	Test & trace involvement/Open spaces policy
02/11/2021	DBC's Climate emergency response
24/11/2021	Hemel Garden Communities/Town centre strategy/Economic development
01/12/2021	Annual draft budget consideration
11/01/2022	Fire safety policy/Developer contributions to infrastructure
02/02/2022	Annual final budget consideration
16/03/2022	Luton airport expansion/Employment & skills strategic planning document

I would like to thank the Vice-Chairman, the Committee members, Portfolio Holders and Officers for their support.

Councillor J R Birnie Chairman, Strategic Planning & Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee 31/03/2022

Finance and Resources Overview Scrutiny Committee Review 2021/2022

Same as the previous year, 2021/22 was still somewhat in the shadows of Covid-19 despite the vaccination roll out which was thankfully taking everyone towards a safer future.

The Council finances were continuing to face Covid challenges of the preceding year, with a provisional deficit of £2.4M being reported for the 20/21 financial outturn to the Committee, along with the proposal for using the Council's Economic Recovery Fund as a mitigation measure.

During the **June 2021** meeting, and the scrutiny of the previous year's financial outturn, the Committee were informed that during the year a new 3–5-year Asset Management Strategy would be developed, with particular emphasis on commercial property, in response to challenges being imposed to business by Covid.

Waste Services were discussed at length at this meeting. Whilst the Committee appreciated the operatives' efforts during the pandemic, the question was raised about missed bin collections. The committee were informed that many of these were due to parked vehicles blocking refuse collection vehicle pathway or sometimes the missed collection were due to bins not being put out in a timely manner.

The issue of Waste Services took considerable amount of the Committee's scrutiny time, as clarifications on over £1.3m financial pressures being created by the Service were sought. These pressures were explained as being created by the reduced funding from HCC, staffing costs and loss of income from commercial and other waste services due to the pandemic. The Committee requested that in future reports the Waste Services costs and pressures be presented in greater clarity rather than being included within other items.

The Committee went on to scrutinise financial pressures on planning, neighbourhood delivery, HRA slippage, the workings of the Economic Recovery Reserve, Medium Term Financial Strategy and sought clarification on technical accounting reporting jargon - the underspends, the overspends, depreciation of stock, and loss of income and technical adjustments . The Committee thanked the Officer for the detailed responses and appreciated the efforts that had gone into an otherwise informative report.

The Committee also scrutinised the quarter 4 financial performance and operational risk reports. The key observation was that the Services were beginning to acknowledge that the workload from the pandemic was beginning to lessen in the last quarter of the previous year, and there were green shoots of recovery meaning we would see more Services returning from the new normal back to the normal.

The Committee queried the council tax collections and the impact it was having both on the Council and the Tenants and sought confirmation that the measures for recovery taken during the pandemic were fair and proportionate.

On questioning, the Committee were informed that the council tax collection was only slightly down on target, and the hands-on approach being taken by Officers to spread payments along with the Government's £250 hardship fund were going some way in assisting collection and providing ease for the residents.

The Committee also queried how the increasing construction costs would impact the Capital Programme going forward. They were informed that there were contingencies in the newbuild budget for reasonable cost increases.

The increased void properties reasons and numbers were queried, and the Committee were told that these would being looked at in detail as part of the planned Asset Management Strategy review.

The Q4 corporate and contracted services report explained the delivery of the 2021 local, County and Police Commissioner elections. Whilst it was acknowledged that the Elections were well run, the issue with delivery of polling cards in one of the villages were raised as a concern. The Committee were told that the non-delivery was due to one individual's action and the incidence has been investigated thoroughly to avoid a repeat in the future.

The Q4 Performance report's focus was on the support, to and health and wellbeing of staff during the pandemic and with home working. DBC was currently looking to see if funding from Herts Protection Board can be obtained to help improve the provision of support to staff wellbeing.

The Committee acknowledged the good performance indicators for ICT and appreciated the work they had done to facilitate 'working from home' to ensure Council services were being delivered for the benefit of residents. The Committee sought clarity on the plan to return to the Forum going forward and enquired about feedback from the staff on working from home experience. The lack of face-to-face opportunity to discuss matters with officers remained a Members' concern, but they understood the need for safety, and for following medical and government advise and guidelines.

The Committee queried matters relating to staff Mental Health issues and support provided during the pandemic, staff sickness numbers whilst working from home, and the drastic increase in website users and asked how ICT and Communication Departments can work together to keep the website as a useful resource for residents' queries, information and grants available in addition to giving bin collections information.

The final proceedings of the **June 2021** meeting looked at the future works programme. The Chairman stated that Committee Members must put forward suggestion for delivery of service for scrutiny, whilst at the same time give the officers sufficient time to compile informative and comprehensive reports. The Committee Members also requested a copy of the constitutional terms of reference for scrutiny to ensure they are undertaking their scrutiny effectively.

The **July 2021** meeting had one agenda item and the meeting witnessed an informative presentation by the Assistant Director of Finance on the various Covid Business Grants and their distribution amongst Dacorum businesses.

The Committee firstly thanked the Officers for distributing business grants in a timely and professional manner and applauded their efforts. It was explained to the Committee that the £4 billion surplus being reported nationally as not being distributed did not apply here in Dacorum as all available grants had been distributed to local businesses.

The Committee queried which businesses were hard to reach during grant distribution. The officers assured the Committee that various cycles of assessment meant that most businesses

were given the grant. However, the self employed were hard to trace for grant support, but the officers continued to search through all avenues. The officers stated that the use of social media and website during the second phase of grants came about as a result of lessons learnt review from the first round of grants. The process improved with each tranche of grant distribution. The Committee were assured that lessons had been learnt and continuous improvement of process implemented.

On the question of accountability and proper grant distribution the officers explained that the latest grant distribution went through four tiers of approval in terms of economic development, revenue service, benefits service and then the final sign off. Whilst it was for officers a time intensive process, it did emphasise the level of control and checks and balances that were applied in grant distribution. However, the underlying aim of everyone involved was to get the grants out to businesses as quickly as possible. The effective use of IT resource had helped the process no end.

The Committee were keen to hear about level of complaints about the grant distribution process. There were 20 enquiries (could be taken as complaints) received via the MP, and these were looked at and many included in the ARG grant distribution. Similarly the Market Traders about whom the Council had held data and was able to assist in later grant distribution cycles.

The Committee were keen to hear what the officers were planning on doing for local businesses during the ensuing year as grant funding dries out. The difficulties that businesses may face going into the future due to the uncertainties meant many businesses could struggle with lower income and business rate payment, and this needs to be considered in the medium term going forward.

The Committee also questioned the Officers on any grants that may have been paid in error and how these grants were to be recovered. The response was that in such cases money would be requested back, and it was emphasised that such payments were an considered an exception rather than the norm due to thorough checking before payments were made. The Committee also asked if social enterprise businesses who had missed out of first round of grant payment had been supported by the follow up discretionary grants, and the response was that they had.

The Committee queried what impact to DBC did the lower business rate collection is having. The Officer explained that whilst this loss was covered by the Governments business rate relief grant for the year, there may be some longer-term impact on the Medium-Term Financial Strategy of this.

The Committee whilst acknowledging that challenging times lay ahead for the finance team and the council, felt assured by the comprehensive presentation and through responses provided to the questions by the Officers.

The Quarter 1 Budget Monitoring and Q1 Performance Reports were on the **September 2021** agenda.

The Committee were informed that there was general fund pressure of approximately £1 million, of which £0.7 million was Covid linked, and reminder related to other risks to the planned budget. The Committee was also told that there was still uncertainty around COVID.

The commercial assets portfolio was showing signs of returning to pre-covid levels whilst the car parking revenues remained down.

The Committee enquired about parking enforcement costs with the lower income from parking, and lower usage of, the car parks during the pandemic, and if there was saving there that was not picked up. The Officer explained that the only saving was from the operators' staff being on furlough, otherwise their fixed cost remained constant during this period.

In response to query on why car parking income was still low, the Officer explained that one reason could be that either people were working from home or were not using their cars for short journeys. The officer explained that overall car parking income was picking up month by month, so the trend was positive and going in the right direction.

The Committee also asked whether the Police and Crime Commissioner fund could help pay towards the costs of clearing fly tipping which remained a menace. The officers explained that this fund was for clearing fly tipping from private land only and could not be used for use by the Council for its fly tipping operations.

Enforcement of fly tipping was also discussed by the Committee at length, and concerns raised on asbestos being present within the fly tipped material and its environmental impact and asked for greater emphasis on enforcement. It was clarified that the budget provision of £100k for asbestos related to council properties asbestos surveys and removal and not for fly tipping.

The Committee also discussed the government compensation payments for the leisure contract and enquired if the assistance received from government for covid support locally was sufficient. The committee also queried the underspend on the condition survey of council dwellings.

The Committee asked about the £500,000 allowance for the Building Safety Bill and were told that this was provision for new legislation going through parliament at present, and which will require additional expense on existing HRA stock, mainly because of changes required as a result of the Grenfell fire enquiry.

The Committee were concerned about the inflationary impacted on the planned budget and questioned how the impact of new policies and legislation risk is accounted for in the budget setting process. The Officer explained to Members that the budget has sufficient contingencies to cover such new legislation, and that legislation can take time to be implemented. Inflation is considered as part of the budget process annually and such well accounted for and not an unknown or a risky item.

The Committee asked about the process being used for dipping into reserves with cabinet approval. The Committee were informed that reserves are built up through underspend and due to covid related legacy pressures. There is not expected to be any underspend during the period under consideration and the reserves are predicted to go down £2 to £3 million over the coming two to three years.

It was asked of the officers if 'underspends and overspend' were a pain or a blessing and how they impacted the budget process. The officers explained these items are based on information that wasn't available at the time of budget setting so neither and acknowledged that only in a perfect world there are no overspends and no underspends. The Committee

acknowledged that these are always known unknowns and unknown unknowns when predicting the future.

The Q1 Finance and Resources performance report touched on covid related 'red' KPIs and the struggle some people were having paying council tax and how this inability to pay was being resolved by Council Officers. Also, temporary accommodation was proving a challenge and much harder to resolve from a council tax and housing claims perspective.

The Committee queried the impact of lower return on investments, debtors, arrears, bad debts going forward, and how they were all impacting on the risk register showings. The Committee appreciated Council's payment to their creditors within 30 days, thus supporting local businesses at these difficult of times.

The Committee sought reassurances that the budget and funding is proactively dealt with rather than being reactive. The Assistant Director of Finance asked for his team's judgement to be trusted and explained that this judgement also utilises external advisors and follow prevailing treasury advice and also based on outcomes of the consultation with the Hertfordshire Chief Finance Officers' group – hence fairlyt robust. The Committee were reassured that a proactive approach was being adopted when it comes to the Council's finances.

The Q1 performance report for corporate services was presented to the Committee and covered the May elections, CCTV strategy, discarded postal vote numbers, parking penalty notices and remote working.

The Committee queried Electric Vehicle Charging both on the street and in DBC car parks. Whilst works was progressing with a contractor for EV charging points within DBC carparks, very little progress was being made with on street charging points due to lack of funding. The Committee were keen to see progress on the EVCPs and asked for contingencies in the form of Plan B to be in place in case of the current contractor that DBC is running with does not come up with a viable option for charging points provision. The concern being that nationally there were on average 36 chargers per 100,000 of populations, whilst Dacorum's provision was 15 per 100,000, and even less so for Dacorum for rapid chargers. The Committee were keen to see more urgency on the provision of EVCPs.

The Committee acknowledged two positives on the report. Firstly the leisure centre attendance had continued to increase and were heading back towards the pre-pandemic levels, and also proudly acknowledged the good work of DBC staff in making Dacorum become a Carbon Literate Borough Council.

The final report for this meeting was to scrutinise the performance, people and innovation report which covered sickness monitoring, health and wellbeing and mental health first aid training for staff. The IT system provisions were reported as continuing to support everyone robustly despite over stretched resources.

The Committee were keen to hear about the digital enhancements forced upon us by the pandemic and were informed that new technologies, data management, robotic automation and more interactive website working were all being considered.

The Committee queried what plans were being put in place for more staff to return to the Forum. They were informed that work was taking place on hybrid working provisions at the moment and the aim was to get more staff to re-start working in the community.

Two key important reports were on the **October 2021** meeting agenda – Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and a short Garages update presentation.

The director of finance presented the MTFS to the Committee with a forecasted focus on key issues and challenges that will impact the economic environment and the Council over the coming few years with regards to income and expenditure and reduced funding settlement from the government. This MTFS strategy is a rolling policy document, reviewed and updated each year.

In response to Committee queries on rising inflation and proposed rise in national insurance contributions increase, it was acknowledged that additional pressure would be imposed on the current budget and both these pressure points are being kept under review, and would need to be offset through budget income and spend adjustments as and when needed. In extreme cases earmarked reserves can be tapped into for any unforeseen events.

The Economic Recovery Reserve had been helped by better than anticipated council tax receipts and garages income performance. However there was a requirement to dip into the reserves due to additional costs associated with Waste Services and the leisure contract. The Committee generated lot of scrutiny on matters related to the reserves.

In response to the Committee queries, they were informed by the Director of Finance that the issues going forward would be twofold as far as the earmarked reserves and working balance were concerned. Firstly, the impact of fall in reserves on future financial resilience should be something Members needed to keep an eye on, and Members being informed us to know how to optimise the usage of reserves. One to watch.

The shortage of lorry driver and budgetary impact, government funding, loan interest, potential savings, council tax related income focus, and the council's sustainability strategy were all touched upon. The Committee were also informed that the Covid grants have been fully utilised.

The second item on the agenda was a presentation on the Garages, updating the Committee on financial aspects and what was in the pipeline in terms of making better utilisation of this valuable council asset. A detailed report on garages would follow in the new year.

The **November 2021** overview and scrutiny meeting looked at the Q2 performances.

The highlight from the Q2 budget monitoring discussions related to the ongoing financial pressures on the budget mainly due to Covid and the plan to dip into the Economic Recovery Fund and the push for savings to be made by each service.

On the finance performance report it was noted by the Committee that there were some KPI improvement on the new benefit claims over quarter 2, and also that the council tax collection was 1% higher than plan but 1% lower than previous normal.

The Q2 corporate services report was scrutinised, and the Committee were informed that only part of the fines imposed by courts come to DBC, whilst most of the money goes to the Treasury. The Committee was concerned that car parking income was not coming up to prepandemic levels, whilst road traffic seems to have gone back to normal.

The Q2 people performance report contains details of similar sickness levels as previous quarter, although greater number of staff have asked for flu vaccinations this year than in the past. Staff wellbeing remained a priority. Staff turnover was higher than the previous quarter, and HGV drivers were being encouraged to stay. Migration of intranet was continuing.

The Committee queried the experience and training of occupational health staff and their input on staff short term sickness matters. The Committee were informed that conversations were being held by OH staff with those taking one-day sickness leaves consistently. The sickness figures were being closely monitored and regular exercise training was also being offered for musculoskeletal injuries. European guidelines for screen working were being followed and employer eye tests were also available for screen using staff.

The main item from the **November 2021** meeting was the update on the Berkhamsted Sport Centre. The Committee were briefed on the design process progress as per the RIBA Stage 2 (preparation and briefing for design) & Stage 3 (concept design). The concept design presentation showed a variety of proposed uses and facilities being planned for the new centre and stated that no decisions had yet been made on Langley Meadow as this will be subject to a public consultation. Sequencing of construction work was planned to be around keeping the existing site in use with phased handover of the completed works and areas. Environmentally friendly construction techniques would be adopted in line with Climate Change aspirations. The Committee were told this environmental enhancement provision carries an additional build cost premium.

The Committee raised the issue of disabled access and parking provisions in the new Centre and were informed that these have been incorporated in the design. The Committee also suggested that the public consultation should take place on the residential elements of the development. This was planned as part of Stage 3 concept design process, following which design would move immediately to Stage 4 (spatial coordination). The Committee were adamant that no progress should be made without the public consultation.

In response to Committee questioning, they were informed that the facility will have a main 6-lane 25m pool as well as a learner pool. Along with other modern facilities included in the development meant visitor number were expected to be close to half a million users once the facility opens.

Public engagement and consultation was reiterated and seen by the Committee as top priority and with this the presentation and deliberations on the proposed Sport Centre development were completed for the evening.

The **December 2021** and **February 2022** meetings deliberated on the 2022/23 Budget papers and presentations which once again were underpinned by emphasis on savings, growth, funding and amended capital bids to achieve a balance budget proposal.

The budget income generation was assisted by cemetery team restructuring leading to cost savings, and some of the commercial property income projected for 21/22 being received during 22/23 budget period. However these were being offset adversely by energy performance certification costs and increase in insurance premiums.

Members were keen on the one hand not to see any commercial rent being raised for the tenants, whilst on the other end wanted to see increased income – the Officers' dilemma. The Committee were reassured by the commercial team that DBC commercial property had a high occupancy rate (95%) and provisions had been made in the budget draft for Covid related and

risks-assessed potential income losses. The expectation and assumption being that situation would return to near normal within a 3-year period.

The Members were then briefed in detail on the 'savings and income proposals', the 'growth proposals' and the 'capital bids' and Members' scrutiny questions were addressed.

During **February 2022** the Finance Director gave the second more focused presentation on certain aspects of the 2022/23 budget which were updated since the December meeting and the impact it would have on the local government finance settlement.

The issue of robustness of the budget proposals against impact of rising inflation and rising interest rates was raised again as a Members remained concerned. The Officers gave the same reassurance as per the December meeting, " ... not expecting significant changes to interest rates over the following year.... Inflation for utilities is expected to decrease (from 5%) during the second half of the budget year assumptions are robust and will continue to be monitored". The Members remained concerned about the impact of rising energy prices from April 2022 on whether the proposed budget had sufficiently allowed for that.

Members raised further queries on the rent reserve, training and development reserve. Despite explanation by officers, some Members seemed were no wiser about the information given on reserves and sought to have more clarity on movement of reserves in the final budget papers.

The impact of governments 'Levelling Up' proposals on Dacorum was questioned and the Officer stated that on the one hand being in East of England should be a benefit as Dacorum is within that Region, and on the other hand the proximity to London may have an impact on funding.

The Chairman missed the March 2022 meeting due to a family bereavement. The meeting looked at the Q3 performance reports and the packed meeting agenda also included an update on garages, commercial strategy, parking enforcement and electric vehicle charging points (EVCPs). The meeting minutes are awaited at the time of writing this report and thus refer to them for details once issued.

The Finance and Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee benefits from a having Members with good background financial knowledge combined with a keen enthusiastic eye for scrutiny, thus ensuring it meets its duty to "promote service improvement, influence policy development and hold the executive to account for the benefit of the Community of Dacorum".

As Chair, I acknowledge the time given by Committee Members to studying reports and then following up with detailed scrutiny during 2020/21 Meetings and sometimes in emails . The Committee has often during the meetings put on record their appreciation for the good hard work the Council Officers undertake and acknowledged the good management of finances during another difficult year for all. However, this has not stopped the Committee from posing probing questions on the reports being presented. Thank you to all the Committee Members for their contributions, and to the Vice Chair for his support and for chairing meetings when called upon to do so.

The willingness and contribution of Members from both sides of the Chamber, Portfolio Holders and Officers to engage in open and effective scrutiny ensuring effective Finance and Resource Service provisions at DBC.

Special thanks to the Committee's Support Officers and the Member Support Team for providing important background and logistical support to the Committee, and for keeping good records through their meticulous Meeting Minutes taking.

Finance and Resources Committee heads towards the 2022/23 session with both local and global challenges threatening to impact the set budget for the coming year. The Committee have confidence in the way in which the Finance Team Officers have gone about their business during the past year and when difficulties have arisen.

One issue which will go into the next session at the forefront of Committee's mind during 2022/23 session will be progress on the Electrical Vehicle Charging Points provision in the Borough.

Councillor Suglain Mahmood

Chairman, Finance and Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee

April 2022

WAIVER OF 6 MONTH COUNCILLOR ATTENDANCE RULE (SEC.85 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972).

Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a member of a Local Authority to attend at least one meeting of that Authority within a six month consecutive period, in order to avoid being disqualified as a Councillor. This requirement can be waived and the time limit extended if any failure to attend was due to a reason approved by the Authority, in advance of the six month period expiring.

Councillor Barry-Mears was elected to the Council on 2nd May 2019 and represents the Highfield Ward. In addition to Full Council she also serves as a member of the Housing and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Member Development Steering Group.

Councillor Barry-Mears is currently on maternity leave, effective from December 2021 (the last meeting attended was 1st December 2021). This request is therefore submitted to for extension to the six month rule.

Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 states that "if a member of a Local Authority fails, throughout a period of six consecutive months from the date of their last attendance, to attend any meeting of the Authority they will, unless the failure was due to some good reason approved by the Authority before the expiry of that period, cease to be a member of the Authority." Attendance can be at any committee or sub-committee, or any joint committee, joint board or other body where the functions of the Authority are discharged or who were appointed to advise the Authority on any matter relating to the discharge of their functions.

Council can only consider approval of any reasons for non-attendance before the end of the relevant six month period, which will be 31st May 2022.

Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 enables a Local Authority to approve the reason(s) for non-attendance of a Member at any meeting of the Authority throughout a period of six consecutive months, provided that approval is given by the Authority <u>before</u> the expiry of the six month period.

Once any councillor loses office, through failure to attend for the six month period, the disqualification cannot be overcome by the councillor subsequently resuming attendance nor can retrospective approval of the Council be sought for an extension in time.

The Council is asked to approve Councillor Barry-Mears non-attendance at meetings of the authority due to maternity for a six month period up to 30th November 2022 pursuant to Section 85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972.